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SUMMARY
Cooling is situated on the north side of the Hoo Peninsula and is its smallest parish.  Whilst 
not bordering the Thames, its northern part encompasses low-lying marshland pasture, 
which rises to the mid-peninsula ridge in the south, with high points at Lodge Hill and 
Mount Pleasant. The small population is distributed around two small settlements -the 
village of Cooling and a hamlet at Spendiff - and a number of dispersed farmsteads. Cooling 
village, in the centre of the parish, is a long-established settlement that contains the remains 
of a 14th-century castle. Unlike Hoo's other settlements, it saw only minimal growth in 
the 20th century and remains one of peninsula's 'unexpanded villages.  Spendiff, to its 
south west, developed in the 19th century and has agricultural origins.  Overall this parish 
appears to have been largely by-passed by the 19th and 20th industrial development of 
its neighbours, although a mineral railway and power transmission lines cross it, and a 
pioneering radio station was built on the marshes in the 1930s.  Cooling is a place that is 
rich in historical associations and retains a prevailing rural character, and this Historic Area 
Assessment provides an overview of its historical development and architectural character.
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Frontispiece; 'eastward from Cliff lies cowling, anciently written Colinges and 
Culinges, so called from its cold and bleak situation'. (P5733046) 1
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PREFACE

The Hoo Peninsula Historic Landscape Project was undertaken by English Heritage 
between 2009 and 2012.  The project aims were to inform landscape change at 
a strategic level by providing an enhanced evidence base and a better-informed 
understanding of the area's rich historic character.  To ensure a truly integrated project a 
number of different research and recording techniques at the disposal of English Heritage 
were deployed. These included aerial survey, analytical earthwork and buildings survey, 
historic landscape, seascape and routeway characterisation, farmstead characterisation 
and historic area assessment. An integrated narrative report drawing on this full range of 
work was produced in 2013 (Carpenter et al, 2013). 

Historic area assessment was developed by English Heritage as one of a number of 
approaches to understanding the historic environment at area scale. Each assessment 
aims to explain how the past is encapsulated in today's landscape, to describe its 
character and to distinguish its more significant elements. Because resources, timescales 
and the nature of areas can vary three levels of assessment have been defined (English 
Heritage, 2010). For the Hoo Peninsula Historic Landscape Project it was decided to 
undertake historic area assessments of individual parishes at outline level - that is less-
intensive survey and research to enable coverage of a wider area. The Hoo Peninsula, 
east of the ridge of high land at Higham, was assessed by parish. For each parish the 
key elements of its historic development were identified, its architectural interest and 
significance was evaluated and its landscape was subdivided into character areas.  

The Hoo Peninsula outline historic area assessments were carried out within English 
Heritage by members of the Assessment Team South, Heritage Protection Department. 
Fieldwork was undertaken during a number of visits to the peninsula between 2010 and 
2011. This consisted of external ground photography and site notes. A limited amount 
of research was undertaken in the local archives. Extensive use was made of historic 
maps, principally the tithe maps and various Ordnance Survey editions, along with on-
line resources such as census data and historic newspapers, to produce the assessments. 
These were written in draft by the team members between 2011 and 2013.
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INTRODUCTION

Cooling is situated on the north side of the Hoo Peninsula and is its smallest parish (Fig. 
1)2 Its scenery is varied, formed, in the northern part, of low-lying marshland, although the 
parish boundary stops short of the river Thames. The southern area is upland, rising from 
the marsh to the mid-peninsula ridge, with high points at Lodge Hill and Mount Pleasant. 
Its topography encompasses marshland pasture, much of it now maintained as a nature 
reserve, as well as fields, orchards and woodland. The small population is distributed 
around two small settlements, the village of Cooling and a hamlet at Spendiff, and a 
number of dispersed farmsteads. The mineral railway and power transmission lines cross 
the landscape, which has a soil of sandy loam over chalk.      

 




          

Figure 1 Location map showing Cooling Civil Parish. ©Crown copyright and database 
right 2103.  All rights reserved. Ordnance Survey Licence number 1000124900.
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Cooling village, in the central area of the parish, is a long-established settlement that 
contains the remains of a 14th-century castle. It experienced only minimal growth in the 
20th century and remains one of peninsula's 'unexpanded' villages. The other residential 
focus at Spendiff, to the south west of the village, developed in the 19th century and has 
agricultural origins. Another hamlet often associated with the parish, Cooling Street, lies 
within the adjoining administrative district of Cliffe and Cliffe Woods.

Evidence of pre-Saxon industrial activity has been recorded in the parish. But it appears 
to have been largely by-passed by industrial development in the 19th and 20th centuries, 
although a pioneering radio station was built on the marshes in the 1930s. Cooling is a 
place that is rich in historical associations and retains a prevailing rural character.
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HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT

Development before 1800

Human occupation in Cooling dates back to at least the Romano-British period. A 
probable settlement to the south of Spendiff has been identified, situated on the 
northern slopes of the ridge of high ground.3 On the evocatively named Whalebone 
Marsh to north-east of the village, excavations were carried out in the 1930s, 1960s and 
1970s, revealing several Roman pottery kilns and a salt-production site in use from the 
1st to 3rd centuries.4 In the Saxon period an area on the edge of the upland was settled 
by the Culingas, or people of Cul(a) , thereby provided the parish with its name and 
establishing its main settlement.5 In this early period the tidal waters came much closer to 
the upland and what is now marsh was once mudflats with navigable channels.

Several references to Culinges or Culinge occur in the 9th and 10th centuries, relating to 
the granting of land, and in 1066 the lordship was held by Earl Leafwyne, the brother of 
King Harold. Up to this point Cooling formed part of the Great Manor of Hoo (within 
the Lathe of Aylesford) but after the conquest it became a manor in its own right. 
Administratively it lay within the Hundred of Shamel, while its eastern neighbour, High 
Halstow, was part of the Hundred of Hoo. Ownership of the manor stayed mainly with 
the crown until obtained by the de Cobham family in 1241. It then descended through 
various branches of the de Cobham and Brooke family until 1643, when the manor at 
Cooling (sometimes spelt Cowling) was divided among the three daughters of William 
Brooke. This created three estates, which Edward Hasted identified as Cowling Castle, 
New Barn and Cowling Lodge.6

The construction of castle at Cooling had begun around 1381, after John de Cobham 
has obtained permission to fortify his manor house in the wake of French raids along 
the Thames.7 Cooling Castle became 'the capital of English Lollardy’ in the 1410s, 
when occupied by Sir John Oldcastle, and was attacked by Sir Thomas Wyatt in 1554. 
[Matthews 99] Thereafter it became a ruin and between 1650 and 1670 a house was 
built on part of the site  (Fig 2).8 This formed the principal residence of one part of the 
subdivided manor.9 

Figure 2 Cooling 
Castle now survives 
is much reduced 
form, principally  
the impressive 
gateway with 
two semi-circular 
towers.  The 17th-
century house is 
visible behind this, 
with the barn to the 
right. (P5733047)
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The estate of New Barn probably refers to Cooling Court, where Eliza Clay built a 
farmhouse in 1700. This farmstead was situated midway between the castle and a 
medieval park at the southern edge of the parish. The latter constituted the third part 
of the divided manor, Cowling Lodge. Its land occupied the crest of the ridge, with 'a 
most extensive prospect on all sides' and views to both the Medway and the Thames. 
Construction of a substantial house, Lodge Hill, was begun here in c.1760 by Samuel Clay 
Harvey and a separate farmstead was located nearby.  

Cooling village developed to 
the east of the castle along 
a meandering lane to High 
Halstow (Fig. 3). The parish 
church of St James dates mainly 
from the late-13th century and 
early 14th century but may well 
occupy the site of a Saxon 
building. The village was edged 
by farmsteads, Cooling Castle to 
the west and Marshgate to the 
east. Both built new farmhouses 
in the 17th century; the former 
in the mid years and the latter 
at the end of the century. A 
poorhouse, a weather-boarded 
and thatched row of five 
cottages adjacent to the church, 
was standing by the 18th century 
(demolished).10 These buildings, 
and a few others including 
a parsonage and barn (both demolished) and a public house (usually known as the 
Horseshoe and Castle), comprised the village in the 18th century.11 

The other settlement that emerged, albeit outside of the parish, was at Cooling Street. 
This was to the south west of the village, near to common land in Cliffe. Its development 
appears to be associated with a long-established upland routeway and by the late-
18th century, Cooling Street was apparently more populous than Cooling village.12 This 
arrangement appears to bear some similarities to the settlement pattern at Osterland/
Lower Stoke and Stoke on the south side of the peninsula.

The parish contained several dispersed upland farmsteads. Cooling Court and Lodge Hill 
Farm were in the southern part. Eastborough and Broomhey farms sat on the edge of 
the upland and close to the marshes to the west of village. However, they were outside 
the parish boundary, in a detached portion of Frindsbury, until 1889.13 From the medieval 
period the marsh underwent a gradual process of reclamation to creature grazing land 
for sheep. From 1531 this was aided by the operations of the North and East Kent Sewer 
Commissions; Cooling also benefited from having no front sea wall to maintain, just 
internal drainage, thereby reducing the cost, or scot, levied on local landowners.14

Figure 3 Extract from A Map of the Hundreds of 
Hoo and Chatham and Gllingham, 1798. showing the 
emerging settlement of 'Cowling' (Cooling) to the east of 
the castle.
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Development 1800-1945

The population of the parish, as charted in the decennial census from 1801, has generally 
fluctuated between 100 and 200 in 19th and 20th centuries. A peak of 232 was recorded 
in 1881; the year that Hundred of Hoo railway line was under construction.15 

During the 19th century Cooling village experienced a modest degree of change that 
particularly affected church-owned land and premises. In 1835 the poorhouse was 
functionally superseded by the Hoo Poor Law Union workhouse in Hoo St Werburgh, 
although the row continued in residential use throughout the century, known as Strand 
Cottages. The vestry gave land to the east of the cottages for a school (demolished) that 
was built in late 19th century.16 Between 1861 and 1871 a substantial new rectory was 
constructed on land to the east of the school  (Fig 4).17 The parsonage, which had been 
divided into two cottages by the early 19th century, appears to have been cleared around 
this time and the parsonage barn apparently converted into residential use.  These stood 
at the corner of the main village street and a track that led south to a small hill, Mount 
Pleasant, and two dwellings known as Sandhole Cottages (demolished). A modest 
residential expansion occurred around Cooling Castle, with two detached cottages built 
opposite the farmstead in the early 19th century (Cooling Castle Cottage and Cades) and 
a cottage and outbuilding to the east (Dove Cottage) in the later part of the century.

One consequence of the village's minimal growth was that in 1902 the school was closed 
due to insufficient numbers.19 During the inter-war years two groups of semi-detached 
houses were built on the north side of the village street near to Marshgate Farm. 
Their names, Marshgate Villas and Marshgate Cottages, suggest these were speculative 
developments intended for incomers rather than villagers. Some rebuilding occurred in 
the early 20th century; Strand Cottages were replaced by a row of four dwellings (now 
Nos 1-4 Dickens Walk) and the Horseshoe and Castle public house was rebuilt after a 
fire in 1914 or 1915  (Fig  5).20 

Figure 4 Extract from OS 1:2,500 map surveyed in 1908-09, showing the 1860s rectory 
that had been built east of the school © and database right Crown copyright and Landmark 
Information Group Ltd (All rights reserved 2013) Licence numbers 000394 and TP0024
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The hamlet of Spendiff developed around a farmstead of the same name that was 
in existence by at least the early 19th century, when it formed part of the Lodge Hill 
estate.21 In the mid-19th century two parallel blocks of hop kilns were built near to the 
farmstead. By the time a Wesleyan chapel and school were constructed here in 1889 
on part of an orchard, this informal gathering of buildings was beginning to emerge as a 
separate settlement rather than an outlier of nearby Cooling Street (Fig 6).22 

The dispersed farmsteads of Cooling parish, as elsewhere in the peninsula, were a 
mixture of marshland grazing and upland arable. The new kilns at Spendiff suggest an 

increase in hop growing during 
the 19th century and the OS 
maps indicate an expansion of 
land given over to orchards from 
the 1870s. The chief crops in the 
early 20th century were wheat 
and fruit, with some cultivation of 
willows or osiers in the marshes, 
and by the 1930s at least one 
farm, Cooling Court, was growing 
potatoes.23 

Figure 5 The Horseshoe 
and Castle public house. 
(P5733048)

 

Figure 6 Extract from OS 1:2,500 
map surveyed in 1909-9 showing 
the emergence of Spendiff as a 
separate settlement rather than an 
outlier of nearby Cooling Street © 
and database right Crown copyright 
and Landmark Information Group 
Ltd (All rights reserved 2013) 
Licence numbers 000394 and 
TP0024
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From the 19th century the landscape was put to a number of new uses. In the 1881-2 the 
Hundred of Hoo railway line was constructed across the southern part of the parish, 
although no station or halt was built here, requiring residents to travel to Cliffe or the 
more distant station at Higham on the South Eastern and Chatham railway. In the late 
19th century part of the Lodge Hill estate was acquired, along with land at Chattenden, 
for a large naval ammunition store. A pioneering radio station was constructed on 
Cooling marshes in 1938 with an antenna array that extended for two miles.24 And as 
part of the Second World War defences an anti-aircraft battery was established to the 
north west of Marshgate Farm.25 

Development after 1945

The population of Cooling parish remains relatively low, given as 209 in the census in 
2001.26 The village has experiences some residential growth since 1945. The largest 
development was by Strood Rural District Council (SRDC), who constructed Nos 1-16 
Pip's Views between the late 1940s and early 1950s. The name celebrates an association 
between the village and the fictional character of Pip (Phillip Pirrip) from Charles Dicken's 
novel Great Expectations (published 1860-1). This connection was much debated in 
the post-war era and has continued to influence house names in the village. Private 
development has taken place on several sites, including that of the old parsonage and 
some outbuildings to the Horseshoe and Castle public house. 

Other changes affecting the village include the replacement of the village school with a 
parish hall, the sale of the rectory in 1950 and the Church of St James being declared 
redundant in 1976.27 Cooling Castle estate was acquired by the Rochester Bridge 
Wardens in 1942 and in the 1960s or 1970s a new farmhouse was built to west of the 
farmstead. By the end of the 20th century the estate had been broken up, with the castle 
remains, the old farmhouse and the outbuildings all in separate ownership.   

In the latter part of the 20th century Spendiff hamlet was transformed from a farming 
settlement to a residential community, both through conversion of existing buildings and 
new development. This is a consequence of wider changes to the farming industry, such 
as the marked reduction in the agricultural workforce. Other shifts in agricultural practice 
have also affected the parish. In the immediate post-war decades the expanse of apple 
and pear orchards continued to increase, particularly around Child's Farm, but thereafter 
has declined. In the 1960s Bromhey Farm expanded its arable area onto the marshes; 
the anticipated impact of further drainage and deep ploughing prompted an emergency 
archaeological excavation to record Romano-British industrial activity.28 One trend 
that has had a clear impact is for the amalgamation of farms; resulting in the clearance, 
conversion or redevelopment of redundant farm buildings. Local factors have also had 
an influence; for example, Bromhey and Eastborough farms have been affected by their 
inclusion, along with part of Cooling marshes, within High Halstow National Nature 
Reserve (created in 1957).
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CHARACTER AREAS

The parish of Cooling has a predominantly rural character, its open landscape formed of 
a marshland nature reserve and upland fields, orchards and woodland. Within this are 
two small areas of low-density settlement, Cooling village and Spendiff hamlet (Fig 7).

 

      

           









Figure 7 Character areas of Cooling parish. Background mapping ©Crown copyright and 
database right 2103. All rights reserved. Ordnance Survey Licence number 1000124900
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Marsh nature reserve and upland farmland

The expanse of low-lying marshland, criss-crossed by fleets and ditches, occupies the 
northern third of the parish. The parish boundary follows the Hope Fleet and Buckland 
Fleet and therefore does not extend as far north as the Thames riverside. Evidence 
of Romano-British occupation and industrial activity has been recorded at Bromhey 
Farm.29 A post-Roman rise in sea levels resulted in the area becoming mudflats and tidal 
waters. The medieval and post-medieval programme of marshland reclamation is evident 
in its drainage system and the remnants of historic sea walls. The marshland farming 
economy that flourished during this period has endured in local names such as Cooling 
Marshes, Whalebone Marshes and Buckland Marshes, although no associated buildings 
have survived. The area is now maintained as a semi-natural grazing marsh and wildlife 
habitat as part of High Halstow Nature Reserve, managed by the Royal Society for the 
Preservation of Birds (RSPB).  

The most significant non-agricultural feature is the remains of Cooling Radio Station, in 
operation between 1938 and 1965.30 This consists primarily of a brick structure, its floor 
raised to avoid flooding; that housed the complex and highly-developed Multiple Unit 
Steerable Antenna (MUSA) system. The associated antenna array has been demolished.  

The upland is crossed by the mineral railway, utilizing the track of the Hundred of Hoo 
railway line (in operation between 1882 and 1961), and power transmission lines from 
Kingsnorth and Grain Power Stations. There is also a scattering of dispersed farmsteads. 
The best preserved is Cooling Court, which has a handsome brick farmhouse (grade II) 
built, according to plaque, in 1700 by Eliza Clay. The main frontage has red and blue brick 
laid in a chequerboard pattern and is on the west side of the building leaving the rear 
elevation facing the road. An early 18th century brick barn (listed grade II), also survives 
but a granary, reputedly of a similar date, was demolished in the mid-20th century leaving 
only its staddle stones.31 New Barn Farm appears to have been created in the early 
19th century, when it was known as Grabhams Farm and may retain some 19th century 
outbuildings.32 Child's Farm, to the west of the village, has a pair of dwellings, Child's Farm 
Cottages, that date from the mid-19th century. Its outbuildings underwent residential 
conversion in the late-20th century. Bromhey farmhouse, rebuilt in 1849, survives in a 
much altered form.33 It, like nearby Eastborough Farm, lies within the nature reserve. The 
latter is no longer a working farm and its outbuildings are used by the RSPB for storage 
or left semi-derelict as wildlife habitat. Lodge Hill Farm, which now lies within the parish 
of Hoo St Werburgh after a boundary change, and the c1760s house at Lodge Hill were 
acquired by the military in the late-19th century. The house, once perhaps the grandest 
in the parish, was uninhabited in 1969 and 'the setting for bomb disposal practice'.34 Its 
environs contain the remains of First World War anti-aircraft batteries.35 The military 
complex at Lodge Hill and Chattenden was undergoing major redevelopment at the time 
of the assessment. 

Cooling village and Spendiff

Situated in the central part of the parish along the edge of the upland, Cooling village 
remains, as it has historically been, a low-density linear settlement. The village street, 
Main Road, kinks around the churchyard and in places development remains limited to 



© ENGLISH HERITAGE 201451 - 12

one side of the road. Two important complexes bookend the village - Cooling Castle 
and Marshgate Farm – while the parish church of St James is situated towards its western 
end. But the majority of village buildings date from the 20th century; some replace older 
buildings while others are the consequence of infill residential development.   

The remains of Cooling Castle (a scheduled ancient monument with listed elements) are 
substantial. It was built in 1381-1385 for Sir John de Cobham in the form of two wards, 
protected by stone curtain walls with circular corner towers and a moat, with an outer 
gateway on the south side. Henry Yevele appears to have had some role in its design and 
the gateway was built by a Maidstone mason Thomas Crump.36 A considerable amount 
of the walls and towers survive, as do the remains of several structures within the 
smaller inner ward (grade I), which is maintained as a ruin. The outer ward is still graced 
by the impressive gateway (grade I), formed of two semi-circular towers with emphatic 
battlements and machicolations, arrowslits and key-hole gun ports. Cooling Castle was 
the first Thames-side fortification designed for the use of gunpowder artillery.37 

The outer ward contains the former farmhouse of Cooling Castle and its outbuildings. 
The house was built between 1650 and 1670 for Sir Thomas Whitmore but has had 
incremental alterations and additions, resulting in a rambling complex.38 Its rendered 
front elevation has a late-19th-century character, reworked and enhanced in the late-20th-
century. The L-shaped range of outbuildings, now in separate ownership, include a large 
timber-framed barn (grade II), dating from the 17th century and the 19th century. The 
buildings are now used as a party and wedding venue, to which an accommodation range 
was added in the early 21st century, built in a contextual vernacular style. Two detached 
dwellings, Cooling Castle Cottage and Cades, stand opposite the castle. These were built 
in the early 19th century as part of the castle estate but have subsequently altered and 
enlarged and now have a late-20th century appearance.  

The farmstead at Marshgate retains a farmhouse and several outbuildings, very loosely 
grouped around an extensive yard, and a substantial pond on the east side.  The oldest 
structures adjoin the road; most notably the late-17th century red-brick farmhouse 
(Marshgate House) and cart shed to the east (jointly listed grade II).  A tall two-storey 
brick stable with a loft on the upper floor stands on the east side of the yard. This 
incorporates reused stone in its walls, including dressed blocks and at least one carved 
fragment.  A group of outbuildings on the north side of the yard were partially replaced 
by large sheds in the late-20th century.

The other significant historic survival is the parish church of St James (grade I) (Fig 8). 
Described as a 'small by complete C14 ragstone church', it appears to have been built 
gradually between c1280 and 1320.39 Its western tower was heightened and completed 
at the end of the 14th century. The building underwent restoration between 1882 and 
1888, a probable date for the addition a tiny vestry to the south of the chancel.40 Perhaps 
uniquely for an English church, this is lined from floor to ceiling with thousands of cockle 
shells. Within the churchyard is a group of 13 body stones around a headstone, the grave 
of the Comport family; this is widely considered to be the grave described in the opening 
scene of Charles Dickens Great Expectations. After the church was declared redundant it, 
and the churchyard, were vested in the care of what is now The Churches Conservation 
Trust in 1978.   



© ENGLISH HERITAGE 201451 - 13

At the centre of the village is the former rectory. Standing within walled grounds, this 
tall building of red-brick with stone dressings and a gothic-style porch was built in the 
1860s  (Fig 9). It was subdivided into two dwellings (Cooling House and Cooling Lodge) 
in the mid-to-late 20th century.  Nos 1-4 Dickens Walk, formerly Strand Cottages, 
replaced the village poor house. This row of Arts-and-Crafts-style dwellings, with white-
painted brickwork and gabled end cottages, dates from the 1910s or 1920s (Fig 10). The 
Horseshoe and Castle public house stands on the site of an earlier building, destroyed 
by fire in 1914 or 1915. The two pairs of semi-detached houses (Marshgate Cottages 
and Marsh Gate Villas) on the north side of Main Road, were separately developed in 
the early 20th century. The land adjoining them to the west was used for the largest 
residential development in the village, Nos 1-16 Pips View. Built by SRDC between 1948 

and 1953, this comprised a 
mixture of semi-detached 
houses, a row of four with a 
central rear-access passageway 
and a block of four cottage 
flats (Fig 11). These were of 
traditional brick construction 
to inter-war designs. Other 
houses in the village are almost 
all one-off detached properties 
dating from the late-20th 
century. 

Figure 8 The parish church of 
St James. (P5733049)

Figure 9 The former rectory, 
erected in the 1860s. 
(P5733050)
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The other area of settlement within the parish at Spendiff is an informal grouping of 
houses around a crossroads to the south of the mineral railway. Some evidence of the 
agricultural origins of the hamlet survives. This includes a semi-detached pair of mid-19th 
brick-built dwellings (Spendiff Cottages) which stand on the site of Spendiff farmhouse.41 
Two mid-19th-century ranges of hop kilns remain to either side of the main street. Both 
underwent residential conversion in the late-20th century; the southern range (Orlick 
Oast, Drummle Oast and Gargery Oast) all retain their rear circular oast houses but 
on the north side only one has survived (Kiln House). The Wesleyan (later Methodist) 
Chapel and School, built around 1889, lies at the northern edge of the hamlet. The 
single-storey red-brick building, with arched window heads of stone and attractive leaded 
glass windows, was converted into a house in the late-20th century. Other residential 
properties include some late-20th-century infill developments and a cul-de-sac of neo-
vernacular houses, Oastfield Close, built in 1984 on a former orchard.

Figure 10 Nos 1-4 
Dickens Walk, formerly 
Strand Cottages, 
erected in the early 
20th century in Arts-
and-Crafts-style. 
(P5733051)

Figure 11 A block 
of four cottage flats 
forming part of the 
SRDC's Pips View 
development of 1948-
53. (P5733052)
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ARCHITECTURAL INTEREST AND SIGNIFICANCE

This small parish retains a considerable amount of architectural and historical interest, 
principally focused on the complex at Cooling Castle and the redundant parish church. 
Their importance has been recognized by the level of their designation. The village has 
escaped significant expansion and many of its houses enjoy uninterrupted views across 
the Thames to Essex but none of its older vernacular buildings have survived. In both 
Cooling and Spendiff the bulk of the housing stock has a late-20th century suburban 
character. But a number of properties, such as Cooling Castle house, Cooling House/
Cooling Lodge and the chapel at Spendiff, have sufficient architectural interest to 
potentially merit inclusion on a local list. 

The agricultural economy that has shaped the marshland and upland landscape of the 
parish is represented by a range of structures. Marshgate and Cooling Court farms retain 
fine farmhouses, examples of a wider phase of rebuilding across the peninsula during 
the late-17th century and the 18th century (Fig 12). These farmsteads also retain some 
historic outbuildings. Other pre-20th century agricultural structures include the cottages 
at Spendiff's and Child's farms and the ranges of hop kilns at Spendiff. But much has been 
lost as a consequence of farm amalgamation and modernization. 

Non-agricultural structures of interest within the parish include the remains of Cooling 
Radio Station on the marshes. The military site at Lodge Hill is presently undergoing 
redevelopment and it remains to be seen what historical features will be retained.

Figure 12 Cooling Court farm house. (P5733053)
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